IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,153

OLEN CLAY GORBY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Florida Bar No. 279080

ANDREW THOMAS Chief Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0317942

SYLVIA W. SMITH Special Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0055816

SCOTT B. MARIO Staff Attorney, CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0177441

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498 (850) 488-7200

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 27, 1990, a Bay County Grand Jury indicted Olen Gorby for murder in the first degree, armed robbery, grand theft auto, and burglary (R 1849-50). Fourteenth Judicial Circuit Court Judge for Bay County, the Honorable Don T. Sirmons, presided over the jury trial which commenced June 24, 1991. On July 2, 1991, Gorby was found guilty as charged on 3 counts and guilty of the lesser offense of robbery (R 2495-96). On July 5, 1991, the jury recommended Gorby be sentenced to death by a vote of 9 to 3 (R 2546). On Aug. 30, 1991, Judge Sirmons sentenced Gorby to death for first degree murder, to 15 years for robbery, to 5 years for grand theft, and life for burglary, all sentences to run consecutive with the death sentence but concurrent with each other (R 2621-29).

In aggravation, Judge Sirmons found that: 1) the murder was committed while Gorby was under sentence of imprisonment having been paroled from the state of Texas on April 11, 1990; 2) Gorby was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to a person based on Gorby's 1987 Texas "Robbery Threats" conviction; 3) the crime was committed for financial gain based on evidence that property and an automobile were taken from the victim's home and on evidence that Gorby was found guilty of robbery, grand theft auto and burglary; and 4) that the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (PCR 2622).

In support of his finding that the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, Judge Sirmons wrote:

The evidence establishes that the victim was attacked by the Defendant while the victim was in the hallway of his home. The victim received seven (7) blows to his head with a claw hammer. One (1) blow was near the front top of the victim's head, one (1) blow was on the left back of the victim's head and give (5) blows were to the right side of the victim's head. Several of these blows were sufficient to punch holes through the victim's skull and cause fracture lines to the skull. The medical examiner's testimony establishes that any one of these blows could have been sufficient to cause the victim's death by hemorrhage to the surface of the The victim also had abrasions on the victim's brain. nose, left cheek and left eye which were not counted in the blows to the head. The physical evidence from the blood spatters indicates that several of the blows to the victim's head were delivered when the victim was lying on the floor in the hallway. This was not an instantaneous death. The medical examiner's testimony, based upon the amount of blood in the hallway, indicates the victim was alive in the hallway lying down for at least ten to fifteen minutes before being moved to the bathroom. The medical examiner indicated that the victim could have been conscious after the first **or** second blow (emphasis supplied) but there is no way to tell how much time passed between blows being delivered to the victim's head and exactly when the victim became unconscious. The victim was found with a shirt with one knot wrapped around his neck with a phone cord containing a complex pattern of knots tied around his neck over the shirt. Over the top of all of that was a red extension cord around the victim's neck which was looped through a handle of a drawer in the bathroom where the victim's body was found and extending into the hallway. All of these items were tied tightly around the victim's neck but none were tied tightly enough to produce strangulation. There is nothing from the physical evidence to determine when these items were placed around the victim's neck in relation to when the blows were delivered. Other than the physical evidence, the only evidence as to what happened at the time of death is from the defendant, <u>Olen Clay Gorby's, perspective in a statement made by</u> the defendant to his cellmate that "he didn't like homosexuals and he beat the dude down with a hammer". These factors, plus the victim's lack of mobility due to his bout with polio, support a finding that this killing indicates a consciousless (sic) and pitiless regard for the victim's life and this homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

(R 2623-24).

Judge Sirmons rejected trial counsel's argument that the court should find statutory mitigation by noting that trial

counsel had presented no proof of statutory mitigation. Judge Sirmons gave little weight to the resultant non-statutory mitigation:

In reviewing these mitigating circumstances, this Court cannot find that the defendant has reasonably established, by the greater weight of the evidence, that the crime for which he is to be sentenced was committed while he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance or that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. (emphasis supplied) The defendant's neuro-psychologist testified the defendant suffers from organic personality syndrome and from alcohol dependence. The expert opined that alcohol enhances the defendant's tendency for a short temper and that once he starts something, he has trouble Some evidence was presented that the stopping. defendant was drinking the evening in question but it was not established how much and to what extent he was impaired. Furthermore, the defendant's main theory in his defense has been that he was not the person who committed this crime and he was not there at the scene. The defendant gave no indication to the psychologist that he used alcohol during or before the crime, or that he committed a crime. There is no evidence from any witness that the defendant was exhibiting any of these behavioral characteristics at the time of the murder or what his mental state was prior to, during or after the event. However, this Court will consider this testimony as non-statutory mitigating circumstances by eliminating the adjectives of extreme and substantially. This Court will therefore evaluate this conflict in the evidence in the weight to be given these two non-statutory circumstances.

(R 2625-26) (emphasis added).

As additional non-statutory mitigation, Judge Sirmons found Gorby came from a poor background, had an abusive father, a failed marriage, was affected by his sisters being shot, and was the victim of a car accident at age 4. He gave little weight to the argument that he loved his family and was loved by them because

3

Gorby had not seen his son or daughter in 8-9 years or his mother in 5 years (R 2626).

This Court affirmed Gorby's convictions and sentences. <u>Gorby</u> <u>v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1993). Gorby's petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court was denied Oct. 3, 1994. Gorby v. Florida, 115 S. Ct. 99 (1994).

On Oct 3, 1995, Gorby timely filed his original Rule 3.850 Motion (PCR 1-145). On Oct. 20, 1995, the Honorable Judge Glenn L. Hess ordered the State to file a response (PCR 148).

On July 1, 1996, pursuant to Florida Rule of Judicial Conduct 2.050(b)(4), Judge Hess transferred the case to Judge Sirmons (PCR 184). On July 18, 1996, Gorby filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Sirmons (PCR 185-232). On Aug. 28, 1996, Judge Sirmons granted the motion and assigned the case to the Honorable Judge Dedee S. Costello (PCR 253).

In 1996, information regarding Dr. William Sybers, the medical examiner who testified against Gorby, came to the attention of collateral counsel. Public records requests were made to state agencies involved in the investigation of the death of Kay Sybers and when most agencies provided only limited information¹ and claimed exemptions citing the on-going criminal investigation, the court considered the issue (PCR 274-79). On Oct. 8 and Oct. 30, 1996, Judge Costello issued orders² on Gorby's

¹Def. Ex. 2A, 2B, 8, and 9.

²Foreclosing Gorby from seeking public records regarding the Sybers investigation because of an ongoing criminal investigation and thus exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act. §

Motion to Compel denying access to records requested regarding any investigation by the State into whether Sybers was responsible for the murder of his wife (PCR 306; 260-61; 272-73; 274-279; <u>see also</u> PCR 289-98; 299-308). On Oct. 22, 1996, the State filed a response to Gorby's 3.850 motion (PCR 262-271).

Judge Costello issued an order granting Gorby's request for leave to amend his Rule 3.850 Motion (PCR 308) and pursuant to that order, on May 30, 1997, Gorby filed an Amended Rule 3.850 Motion (PCR 309-525). Thereafter, during the 1997-1998 CCR-CCC transition period, Gorby was without counsel for five months (PCR 529-31; 544-545). On Dec. 9, 1997 (PCR 533-42) the State filed another response to Gorby's Rule 3.850 motion. Judge Costello conducted a telephonic hearing Dec. 9, 1997 regarding the status of counsel. On Feb. 12, 1992, a status conference was attended by new collateral counsel.

Judge Costello conducted Gorby's <u>Huff</u> hearing June 1, 1998 (PCR 556) and scheduled Gorby's evidentiary hearing for June 29, 1998 (PCR 557). On June 1, 1998, the <u>Huff</u> hearing was held (PCR 556; 865-945). On June 16, 1998, Judge Costello ruled the evidentiary hearing would cover claims 7, 8, 9, 11, 13, 16, and 17³, that all of claims 10, 12, 18-26, 30-36 were procedurally barred, and that claims 1-4, 27 and 31-32 were legally insufficient and/or otherwise not a proper basis for relief (PCR

119.07(3)(b)(1995).

 $^{^{3}}$ The ruling limited the scope of the issues to be heard that were raised in claims 7, 8, 9, and 11.

594-5). On June 16, 1998, Judge Costello granted Gorby's request for a short continuance (PCR 558-80), and the evidentiary hearing was scheduled for July 14-15, 1998 (PCR 592). The evidentiary hearing was conducted on July 9, 1998 (Def. Ex. 23-24); July 13-14, 1998 (PCR 946-1426), Sept. 22, 1998 (Def. Ex. B), and Oct. 9, 1998 (PCR 658; 1427-1526). On July 15, 1998, Judge Costello issued a warrant for witness Jerry Wyche's arrest for failure to appear (PCR 669-70). On Nov. 25, 1998, Judge Costello issued an order denying claims 7, 8(a)-(e), 9, 11, 13, 16, 17 and all other ineffective assistance of counsel allegations (PCR 675-734).

While Gorby's rehearing motion (PCR 743-52) was pending, the court informed Gorby's counsel that Wyche was and had been in custody. Gorby filed a Combined Motion to Reopen Evidentiary Hearing and for Protective Order (PCR 771-781; <u>see also</u> PCR 735-36; 769-70).⁴ A hearing was ultimately held Feb. 15, 1999 (PCR 805-7) at which Wyche was appointed counsel and invoked his Fifth Amendment rights not to be compelled to testify regarding his trial testimony against Gorby or his affidavit recanting that testimony (PCR 1537; 1543). Judge Costello denied Gorby's Motion for Rehearing (PCR 1543; 814) and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Dr. William Sybers

At trial, Sybers testified that: 1) he did not go to the scene (R 1370); 2) Raborn did not die of strangulation (R 1377);

⁴Gorby also filed a timely Rule 3.852 request for information about his jury in light of this Court's opinion in <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 941, 951 (1998) (PCR 737-40).

3) Raborn suffered 7 blows to the head - 5 of which were in 1 grouping; and 4) Raborn would have had to be alive for 10-15 minutes to lose as much blood as was at the scene and was dragged over an hour later down the hall to the bathroom after the blood had clotted (1380-87).

Collateral counsel presented the available records demonstrating that Sybers was a suspect in the investigation of the death of his wife and the available records regarding Sybers' shoddy practice of failing to supervise non-medical personnel permitted to conduct autopsy procedures (Def. Ex. 2A, 8, 9). This evidence demonstrated that the State began an investigation of Sybers' role in the death of his wife within 12 hours of her death after a confidential informant provided information about the unusual circumstances of her death and embalming (see A Cloud of Suspicion, Miami Herald, Jan. 24, 1993; Prosecutor Will Investigate Death of Former Medical Examiner's Wife, Tallahassee Democrat, Jan. 7, 1993 in Def. Ex. 9; see also Def. Ex. 2A and Memorandum of FDLE agent Kent McGregor dated Oct. 14, 1991) Collateral counsel also presented evidence that Sybers utilized persons who were not medical doctors in the autopsies conducted in his office and failed to assure that these persons were supervised by a medical doctor (<u>see</u> Memorandum of Cpl. Mark Smith, Panama City Beach Department dated May 6, 1992 in Def. Ex. 8). Trial counsel testified he had no knowledge there was even a suggestion of foul play at the time of trial and did not request an independent medical examiner (PCR 1066; 1075).

2. Dr. Leroy Riddick

7

Collateral counsel presented an independent medical examiner, Dr. Leroy Riddick.⁵ Riddick had reviewed a video of the crime scene, photographs of the crime scene, the autopsy and autopsy protocol, Sybers' deposition and trial testimony, and McKeithen's investigation report⁶ (PC 1255). Riddick also relied on the opinions of Stuart James, an independent forensic scientist⁷ retained by collateral counsel, including findings that: 1) there was no evidence of an active struggle during bloodshed and no evidence that the victim sustained defensive wounds; 2) the "ligatures" and plaid shirt were manipulated after bloodshed; 3) there is no blood pattern evidence to indicate the ligatures were in place at the time the blows were struck but rather were placed around the victim's neck after; 4) there is no evidence of blows being struck in the bathroom where the victim was found; 5) there is no evidence of any other violent activity in the house; 6) there is evidence of the presence of undisturbed firearms and knives in the house and numerous items of value left undisturbed; and 7) there is evidence consistent with the victim having engaged in sexual activity prior to his death (Def. Ex. 22).

⁵<u>See</u> Dr. Riddick's curriculum vitae (Def. Ex. 33).

⁶Def. Ex. 17, Tab 2.

⁷Who in reaching his opinions, had reviewed crime scene and autopsy photographs, crime scene video, the physical evidence admitted at trial, police reports including forensic crime lab reports, and three volumes of materials provided by collateral counsel which included deposition and trial testimony, diagrams of the scene and other pertinent materials (Def. Ex. 22).

Riddick testified that the victim was unconscious almost immediately:

Q. Can you explain the underlying basis for that opinion?

Well, he received multiple blows to the head Α. and the blows were to the right back side of his head and also to the left back side of his head forceful enough to split the scalp and also to cause depressed skull fractures. When you strike the head at an oblique angle or from behind because it has a different inertia from the skull and this puts a twist on the brain stem and can cause immediate unconsciousness. There we see this dramatically on television is during a boxing match when somebody gets a blow to the, right cross to the chin, the head goes one way, the brain goes the other and the person drops immediately. The evidence in this case that's been presented was that he was struck with a blow, fell to the ground and then other blows were struck.

(PCR 1263). In Riddick's opinion, all 7 blows could have been inflicted within 5 seconds and unconsciousness could have occurred 1-2 seconds after the first blow. <u>Id</u>. Thus, Sybers' estimate that the victim survived 10-15 minutes was erroneous. Although the victim may have bled for that amount of time, he was rendered unconscious and brain dead within 1-2 seconds of the first blow. Though brain dead, the victim's heart continued to pump producing the blood at the scene (PCR 1267; 1276-78).

Regarding the wound pattern, Riddick testified that the first blow was the blow to the left and it was sufficient to have knocked the victim to the floor and unconscious. The cluster of blows on the right was then inflicted while the victim was on the floor (PCR 1265).

Regarding Sybers' lack of adherence to generally accepted practices, Riddick noted that Sybers did not go to the scene but did nevertheless testify about it (PCR 1267-68). Moreover,

9

Sybers' failure to go to the scene caused problems with his determination of time of death and understanding of blood spatter evidence. Finally, Sybers issued his report about the brain injuries prior to making a thorough examination and failed to ever examine the brain microscopically (PCR 1268-69). Riddick also noted the length of time between when the death of the victim and when Sybers finally examined the brain was too long for Sybers to have been able to rule out or prove diffuse axonal damage to the brain as a cause of death (PCR 1269).

Riddick testified that any finding, based on the amount of blood in the hallway, that the victim was alive for 10-15 minutes before being moved to the bathroom, would be erroneous (PCR 1279). And finally that he would have been available to testify in 1991 or to have reviewed the case (PCR 1272).

3. Molly Sheridan/Kay Hicks

At trial, the State presented Allen Brown, a deaf and mute drug addict to whom Gorby allegedly made a written confession (R 788-850). In addition, the State called Marissa Brown, Allen Brown's wife who was deaf and did not understand English (R 851-88). The Browns' testimony was interpreted by Kay Hicks. Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he was unfamiliar with sign language, did not know there were different kinds of sign language or what he would have done with the information had he known (PCR 979). He recalled that cross examination was frustrating and difficult (PCR 980). An independent sign language interpreter, Molly Sheridan, met and interviewed Allen and Marissa and reviewed materials and

10

Sheridan concluded that Hicks failed to fulfill her affidavits. duties as an officer of the court and according to Marissa, signed in English Sign Language rather than the American Sign Language she and Allen used. Sheridan proffered that Florida fails to meet national standards by not requiring video-taping and fails to require that court interpreters be nationally certified. The State presented Kay Hicks (PCR 1352-57) who testified that there were no certified legal interpreters in northwest Florida at the time of trial. Hicks explained that she was trained in both American and English sign language. Hicks stated it would have been the attorney and/or the court's responsibility to ensure the quality of the communication between the attorney and deaf witness, not hers. Hicks explained that her role was simply to interpret, not to ensure good examination or cross-examination. Hicks testified that trial counsel did not request her assistance (PCR 1357). Hicks agreed that compound questions and questions with double negatives were particularly difficult to interpret into sign language and that it is helpful when attorneys seek her assistance in advance about the best way to phrase a question for sign interpretation (PCR 1357).

4. Cleo Calloway

At trial, the State presented Texas inmate Cleo Calloway to provide eyewitness identification⁸ testimony (R 970-1052). At the

⁸The identification was found to be unnecessarily suggestive but, given the totality of the circumstances, not presenting a substantial likelihood of misidentification.

evidentiary hearing⁹, Calloway explained he had been hearing voices and seeing visions since he was 17 years old (Def. Ex. B at 5). Calloway testified that before he understood his problem, he tried to control his hallucinations with drugs and alcohol, <u>id.</u> at 7, but by 1991, he had been diagnosed and prescribed psychotropic drugs. <u>Id.</u> Calloway admitted to still having mental problems at the time of trial. <u>Id.</u> at 9. Calloway's Texas prison psychiatric records corroborate the existence of Calloway's psychiatric illness (Def. Ex. 1).

Trial counsel testified that when he deposed Calloway at the Texas prison, he did not know the prison was for mentally ill inmates (PCR 974). He testified that he neither took steps to investigate Calloway's background nor reviewed Calloway's Texas prison or medical records (PCR 997-98). However, after reviewing the records obtained by collateral counsel, trial counsel agreed the information would have been useful in his efforts to suppress the identification and attack Calloway's credibility at trial (PCR 971-978).

5. Jan Johnson/Leroy Parker

At trial, the State called FDLE crime analyst Jan Johnson to testify about the crime scene and blood spatter evidence (R 1117-63; 1285-96). Johnson was qualified as a bloodstain pattern expert on the basis of her experience and her attendance at Judith Bunker's "Bloodstain Pattern School" in Orlando, Florida. The State bolstered Bunker's reputation during Johnson's qualification

⁹Testimony obtained by deposition to perpetuate (PCR 1418).

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