IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OLEN GORBY,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. 95,153

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 FAX (850) 487-0997

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Judge Costello denied relief, finding this claim refuted by the record or without merit, and attaching certain portions of the record (PCR V 675, 711-719). The circuit court found:

The record clearly refutes this allegation where counsel questioned the interpreter at length as to her qualifications and ability to adequately interpret the testimony of the witness (See Trial Transcript, pp. 782-788). Additionally, the trial judge after questioning the interpreter, made a specific finding that she was able to communicate with the witness and able to repeat and translate the statements (See Trial Transcript, pp. 850-851). Moreover, during the evidentiary hearing, defendant's expert testified that she could not find any inconsistency or error in the translated testimony. (PCR V 675).

These findings, which are not attacked on appeal, are supported by competent substantial evidence in the record, and no error has been

demonstrated. The circuit court's denial of relief as to all matters contained in this point should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF VARIOUS CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WAS NOT ERROR.

In this next claim, collateral counsel contend that Judge Costello erred in summarily denying relief as to six claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, relating to both trial and penalty phase matters, as well as an unrelated claim involving the State's use of jail house informants. As will be demonstrated below, the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel were simply conclusory attempts to avoid the procedural bar (and obtain review of substantive matters which should have been presented on direct appeal), and the claim concerning the State's presentation of jail house informants, which did not relate to the admission of testimony from any witness below, did not state a claim for which relief could be granted. The circuit court's denial of relief as to all these matters should be affirmed in all respects. Each claim will now be addressed.

A. THE JURY QUALIFICATION CLAIM

Collateral counsel first contend that Attorney Komarek rendered ineffective assistance for failing to object to the general jury qualification process employed by Bay County. Although no transcript exists of what occurred in Gorby's case, collateral counsel speculate that Komarek and Gorby were both absent from this proceeding, and that an unnamed assistant state

attorney was present, based upon certain published opinions in other Bay County cases, such as <u>Bates v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1999). Gorby raised this matter as a "merits" claim in his postconviction motion below (Claims XXIX - XXX), and included conclusory allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel (PCR III 465-8, 468-470). Judge Costello found all matters to be procedurally barred (PCR VIII 885-7; IV595).

No error has be demonstrated in the above ruling. Any attack upon the jury qualification process utilized in Gorby's case should have been preserved through objection and then presented on direct See, e.g., Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So.2d 1377, 1380 (Fla. 1987) (claim that defendant absent from critical stages of procedurally barred when raised for first postconviction motion); Rivera v. Dugger, 649 So.2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1993) (same). Further, this Court has repeatedly, consistently, held that 3.850 proceedings cannot be utilized as a second of substitute appeal, and that a defendant may not seek to avoid such result by couching procedural barred claims in the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. See, e.g., Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990); Lopez v. State, 634 So.2d 1054, 1056-7 (Fla. 1993); Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995); Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 480, n.2 (Fla. 1998) (condemning conclusory allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel); Rutherford v. <u>State</u>, 727 So.2d 216, 219, n.2 (Fla. 1998); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 755 So.2d 616, 621, n.7 (Fla. 2000); <u>Asay v. State</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S523, 527-8 (Fla. June 29, 2000). Judge Costello's rulings are in accord with the above precedent, and no error has been demonstrated.

Assuming that any further argument is necessary, it is clear that no viable claim of ineffective assistance of counsel has been demonstrated. The record reflects that Judge Sirmons announced on the record that Judge Bower had heard the jury excuses, and that the jury pool had been divided into three panels because there were three upcoming trials (OR I 37). Attorney Komarek had been practicing law in Bay County since 1975 (PCR IX 950). Collateral counsel has failed to demonstrate that every reasonably competent counsel in his position would have interposed an objection at this time, especially given the fact that no court has ever invalidated the procedure utilized in Bay County; conversely, collateral counsel have entirely failed to demonstrate any prejudice from counsel's omission, given the fact that no transcript exists of this proceeding, so as to demonstrate the existence of any error. The circuit court's finding of procedural bar should be affirmed.

B. THE EXPERT WITNESS INSTRUCTION CLAIM

Collateral counsel next contend that Attorney Komarek rendered ineffective assistance for failing to object to the standard jury instruction regarding expert witnesses. This matter was likewise raised as a "merits" claim below (Claim X), with a conclusory allegation of ineffective assistance (PCR III 361-3), and Judge Costello found this matter procedurally barred (PCR IV 595; VIII 878-9). No error has be demonstrated. This matter is certainly

one which could have been presented on direct appeal, <u>see Brown</u>, 755 So.2d at 621, n.5, n.7, and Gorby's allegation of ineffective assistance is simply an attempt to avoid this procedural bar. <u>See</u>, <u>Asay</u>, <u>supra</u>. Further, this Court held in <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S346, 350 (Fla. April 13, 2000), that defense counsel could not be deemed ineffective for failing to object to an instruction, such as this, which had never been invalidated. The circuit court's finding of procedural bar should be affirmed.

C. THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR AND INSTRUCTION CLAIM

In this claim, collateral counsel contend that Attorney Komarek was ineffective for conceding the existence of the pecuniary gain and under sentence of imprisonment aggravating factors, and for failing to object to the jury instructions thereon, as well as to the jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor. The record reflects that collateral counsel asserted in Claim XIX of the motion below that the jury instruction on the pecuniary gain aggravator was unconstitutional and that counsel had been ineffective for failing to object to it (PCR III 412-14); that the instruction on the HAC aggravator had likewise been unconstitutionally deficient and that counsel had been ineffective for failing to litigate the issue (Claim XXI; PCR III 416-420), and, in Claim XXII, that the instruction on the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator had likewise been flawed and that counsel had been ineffective for failing to object to it (PCR III 420-2). Judge Costello found all of these matters procedurally barred (PCR IV 595; VIII 881-3).

Again, no error has been demonstrated. The propriety of the finding of any of these aggravating circumstances, as well as the constitutionality of any jury instructions thereupon, represent matters which should have been presented on direct appeal. See, e.q., Freeman v. State, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S451, 454 (Fla. June 8, 2000); <u>James v. State</u>, 615 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1993), and the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are simply transparent attempts to avoid this bar. See Rivera, supra; Rutherford, supra; Asay, Further, the record fails to substantiate any contention that defense counsel "conceded" the existence of any aggravating factor. As to the jury instruction, no court has ever invalidated the standard instructions on the pecuniary gain and/or under sentence of imprisonment aggravating factors, and this Court expressly noted in the direct appeal opinion that the jury in this case was not instructed on the heinous, atrocious or cruel factor in accordance with the instruction condemned in Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), Gorby, 630 So.2d at 548, instead receiving an expanded instruction. Accordingly, it is clear that no viable claim of ineffective assistance of counsel has been demonstrated. See Thompson, supra; Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506, 517-18 (Fla. 1999); Harvey v. State, 656 So.2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995); Mendyk v. State, 592 So.2d 1076, 1080 (Fla. 1992). circuit court's denial of relief as to this procedurally barred claim should be affirmed.

D. THE NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATOR CLAIM

In this claim, collateral counsel contend that Attorney Komarek was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's statements regarding lack of remorse in opening and closing arguments, as well as to the fact that the prosecutor allegedly "swung the hammer used in the murder wildly around the courtroom and used it repeatedly to strike the table during closing." (Initial Brief at 97). Gorby presented this matter as a "merits" claim in the 3.850 (Claim XXIV), with a conclusory allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel (PCR III 425-430), and Judge Costello found the matter barred (PCR IV 595, VIII 881-3).

error has been demonstrated. Claims regarding the prosecutorial argument are matters which should be preserved through objection and presentation on direct appeal. See, e.g., <u>Diaz v. Dugger</u>, 719 So.2d 865, 867-8, n.2, 6 (Fla. 1998); <u>Bryan v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 641 So.2d 61, 62-3, n.2 (Fla. 1994). Gorby's alternative allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are simply attempts to avoid the procedural bar. See Rivera, supra; Asay, Further, the record reflects that defense counsel did supra. object to the prosecutor's reference to lack of remorse in closing argument (OR X 1582), and that appellate counsel presented such claim of error to this Court on direct appeal, and that this Court rejected it. Gorby, 630 So.2d at 547. Gorby cannot relitigate this matter on postconviction, see Blanco, supra, Medina, supra, and the reference to lack of remorse in opening statement was insufficiently prejudicial to have rendered the trial verdict

unreliable. <u>See Brown</u>, 755 So.2d at 623 (defense counsel's failure to object to prosecutorial argument insufficient to merit relief in the absence of prejudice); <u>Pope v. Wainwright</u>, 496 So.2d 798, 802-4 (Fla. 1986). Conversely, the record fails to substantiate any allegation that the prosecutor "swung" the hammer during closing argument, and this claim is mere speculation. The trial court's finding of procedural bar should be affirmed.

E. THE CALDWELL CLAIM

In this claim, collateral counsel contend that Attorney Komarek rendered ineffective assistance for failing to object to standard instruction on the jury's role in capital sentencing which allegedly violate <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). This matter was raised as a "merits" claim below (Claim XXV) with a conclusory allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel (PCR III 430-4), and Judge Costello found the matter barred (PCR IV 595, VIII 881-3).

No error has been demonstrated. <u>Caldwell</u> claims are matters which should be presented on appeal, <u>see Thompson</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly at S350, and the allegation of ineffective assistance is simply an improper attempt to avoid the bar. <u>See</u>, <u>Rivera</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Asay</u>, <u>supra</u>. Further, because the instructions have never been invalidated, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to object to them. <u>See</u>, <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>. Finally, counsel's omission is easy to understand, given the fact that the jury in this case was specifically advised that their recommendation was entitled to

great weight (OR XI 1824). The trial court's finding of procedural bar should be affirmed.

F. THE BURDEN-SHIFTING CLAIM

Collateral counsel next contend that Attorney Komarek rendered ineffective assistance for failing to object to alleged burdenshifting in the penalty phase instructions. This matter was raised as a "merits" claim (Claim XXVI) with a conclusory allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel (PCR III 434-7), and Judge Costello found it barred (PCR IV 595; VIII 881-3).

Again no error has been demonstrated. Claims of this nature represent matters which should be presented on direct appeal, see Brown, supra, and the allegation of ineffective assistance is simply an attempt to avoid this bar. See, Rivera, supra; Asay, supra. Further, seeing as the instructions have never been invalidated, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective. See, Thompson, supra. The trial court's finding of procedural bar should be affirmed.

G. THE JAILHOUSE INFORMANT CLAIM

Collateral counsel finally contend that Gorby was deprived of due process because of the prosecuting office's "pattern and practice" of utilizing jailhouse informants, contending that the State had contemplated using Eric Mace as a witness in this case, but did not do so. This matter was presented as part of Claim VIII of the motion, alleging a <u>Brady</u> violation (PCR III 349-350). After noting that Mace had not testified, Judge Costello found this matter insufficiently pled, and summarily denied relief (PCR IV

594, VIII 912-14). At the hearing, collateral counsel apparently attempted to introduce a letter from Jerry Crowder, another "snitch" who never testified in Gorby's trial, and Judge Costello adhered to her ruling (PCR XI 1410-13).

Collateral counsel present no allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel as to this matter, or explain their theory of reversible error. The witnesses in question never testified, and it is unclear what counsel should have done in this respect or what evidence might arguably be said to have been suppressed. No basis for reversal has been demonstrated, and the circuit court's denial of relief as to all matters presented in this point should be affirmed.

POINT V

GORBY WAS AFFORDED A FULL AND FAIR EVIDENTIARY HEARING BELOW.

Collateral counsel next contend that Gorby was not afforded a full and fair hearing below for three reasons: (1) the State refused to grant immunity to a witness whom collateral counsel wanted to call; (2) the alleged under-funding and under-staffing of CCR, as well as the allegedly draconian application of Rule 3.851 Fla.R.Crim.P. and (3) the fact that the Florida Rule of Professional Responsibility 4-3.5(d)(4) precluded counsel from initiating contact with the jurors in this case. As a general matter, a trial court enjoys wide latitude and discretion in its conduct of postconviction proceedings, Medina, 573 So.2d at 295, Asay, 25 Fla.L.Weekly at S524-5, and Gorby has failed to

demonstrate any basis for relief. Each of his claims will now be addressed.

As to the first matter, the record reflects that collateral counsel sought to secure the presence of Jerry Wyche, and, when Wyche failed to appear at the hearing, a capias was issued on July 16, 1998 at the request of collateral counsel (PCR XI 1310-13, 1347-1351, 1401-1410; IV 644-5). After the close of all evidence and presentation of closing arguments, collateral counsel stated, at the renewed hearing of October 9, 1998, that the capias had not been served on Wyche (PCR XII 1489, 1518-1520). Shortly before Judge Costello ruled on the 3.850 motion, Wyche, who was also facing pending charges relating to delinquency in child support, was taken into custody, and collateral counsel noted such fact in their motion to reopen the evidentiary hearing (PCR IV 668-674; V 771-3). On February 15, 1999, Wyche appeared before the Court, and counsel was appointed for him (PCR XIII 1529-1532). At this time, Wyche disputed his pending contempt charge stemming from the failure to appear, claiming that he had advised collateral counsel that he was afraid of flying and would not travel to the hearing by that method; he stated that he would have traveled by other means of transport (PCR XIII 1532-6). When asked to present testimony as to the substance of any claim for relief, however, Wyche chose to invoke his rights under the Fifth Amendment and remain silent (PCR XIII 1532-7). At this time, however, no request was made that the State offer Wyche immunity. Inasmuch as such request was never made below, it would seem that any claim now presented by

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